
       PRELIMINARY MINUTES 
 

VILLAGE OF LUDLOW 

 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

REGULAR MEETING 

 

TUESDAY, APRIL 4, 2023 

 

6:00 PM  

 

HOWARD BARTON, JR. CONFERENCE ROOM 
 

 

 

TRUSTEES PRESENT:   

Bob Brandt, Chairman Justin Hyjek Earl Washburn 

 

STAFF:   

Brendan McNamara Joe Gaudiana 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

Michelle Brandt Stacy Malecki Leslie Stewart 

Terry Carter Frank Provance Jean Strong 

Alan Couch Ryan Silvestri Ted Stryhas 

Andrea Goldman   

 

 

1. Call To Order 

 

A. Bob Brandt called the regular meeting of the Village Trustees to order at 6:00 p.m.  He 

introduced and welcomed Brendan McNamara, the new Municipal Manager. 

B. Justin Hyjek advised that as he has not yet been sworn in, he will not be voting on any issues 

tonight. 

 

 

2. Annual Board Reorganization 

 

A. Elect Chairman of the Board 

i. Motion by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to elect Bob Brandt 

Chairman of the Board.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
B. Elect Vice Chairman of the Board 

i. Motion by Bob Brandt and seconded by Earl Washburn to elect Earl 

Washburn Vice Chairman of the Board.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
C. Elect Clerk of the Board 

i. Motion by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to elect Justin Hyjek 

Clerk of the Board.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 



 

 

Village of Ludlow – Board of Trustees  April 4, 2023 

Preliminary Meetings Minutes  Page 2 of 7 

 

 
D. Appoint Ludlow Enterprise Fund Committee Member 

i. Motion by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to appoint Bob 

Brandt as Ludlow Enterprise Team Member.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
E. Set Day and Time of Regular Meetings and Alternate meetings. 

i. Motion by Bob Brandt and seconded by Earl Washburn to continue with 

regular meetings to be held on the first Tuesday of the month at 6:00 p.m. and 

to have alternate meetings scheduled, as required, on the third Tuesday of the 

month at 6:00 p.m. 

ii. Justin Hyjek asked if it would be possible to move the regular meetings to Mondays 

at 5:00 p.m. 

iii. Lisha Klaiber said she would not be able to take the minutes as the Select Board 

meetings are at 6:00 p.m. and if the Trustees’ meetings run late, she would have to 

leave for the Select Board meeting. 

iv. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
F. Adopt Roberts Rules of Order  

i. Motion by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to adopt Roberts 

Rules of Order for meetings. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
G. Appoint Recording Secretary 

i. Motion by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to appoint Lisha 

Klaiber Recording Secretary.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 
H. Designate Newspaper of General Circulation 

i. Motion by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to continue with THE 

VERMONT JOURNAL as the newspaper of general circulation and THE 

RUTLAND HERALD as backup.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

3. Consideration of any Changes, Additions or Removal to the Agenda 

 

A. Bob Brandt advised that no changes are needed.  
 

 

4. Approve Minutes from Previous Meetings 

 

A. Bob Brandt advised the minutes to be approved are from the regular meeting of February 16, 

2023 and a Special Joint Committee Meeting on March 22, 2023. 

B. MOTION by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to approve minutes from 

the regular meeting of February 16, 2023 and the Special Joint Committee meeting on 

March 2, 2023 as submitted.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

5. Comments from Citizens 

 

A. There were none. 



 

 

Village of Ludlow – Board of Trustees  April 4, 2023 

Preliminary Meetings Minutes  Page 3 of 7 

 

 
6. Planning Commission Update on Village Zoning and Proposed Planning Survey 

 

A. Terry Carter said the survey is designed to get public (employees, employers, home owners, 

and anyone who wants to participate) opinions on housing, parking and pedestrian 

infrastructure in the Village of Ludlow. 

B. There was response from all board members that they had looked over the survey. 

C. Terry Carter said it will be finalized with the entire Planning Commission at their next 

meeting on April 18th.  The survey will be published on the town website and they will go to 

the Rotary, Chamber and other meetings to present it.  She said the Regional Planning 

Commission is “picking up the bill” and it will be a “survey monkey” so that a person may 

only submit one response. 

D. Justin Hyjek asked if they can include a question about “where the fees would go to and 

what they would be applied to.” 

E. Ryan Silvestri said the Planning Commission would need a list of town funds. 

F. Bob Brandt asked how long they would have. 

G. Ryan Silvestri said there would be a 45 day window, and then they would collect the data.  

They will be able to tell who was taking the survey. 

H. Justin Hyjek asked about adding a bus stop in the village.   

I. Ryan Silvestri said the stops should be labeled better.  There is one at the corner of Pleasant 

and Elm Streets. 

J. Justin Hyjek said that is only active in the winter.  He said that the MOOVER should stop 

not at the fire house, but in town.  They should put a stop in the center of town to make it 

more accessible for pedestrians. 

K. Ryan Silvestri said they would not have a problem with adding that. 

L. Bob Brandt said the Planning Commission did a good job and he would be interested in the 

results. 

M. Terry Carter said that the Planning Commission has made some (proposed) changes to the 

Village zoning regulations and the trustees would consider hearing some of them.  People 

have concerns about the trash conditions on Wilbart Avenue as well as the proposed 40-bed 

house on Prospect Street.  There are issues with the definitions of “inn.”  This house may 

end up being like a college dorm or fraternity.  We don’t have a strong definition and 

standards for “inn.”  We would ask you to put this on your agenda for next month.  The 

Planning Commission will hold an open hearing in May and ask you to hold an open hearing 

in June.  She said that the employee housing is time sensitive. 

N. Justin Hyjek said great. 

O. Ryan Silvestri said it would be better for the trustees to address this than to wait and hear all 

of the proposed changes at one time.  We are also discussing higher density and more 

accessory units.  The state legislature is also working on this.  Is that the direction that the 

trustees would like the Planning Commission to move toward?  Do you want us to increase 

the density and have higher buildings, with parking garages below?  We want to know what 

the Village will look like in 5 years. 

P. Terry Carter said we have doubled the zoning in the village from 1/4 to 1/8th  acre 

Q. Justin Hyjek said he is concerned about the 1/8th acre.  People may build tiny houses and use 

them for short term rentals.  We need to be careful.  We need to make the Village more 

pedestrian-friendly and have more crosswalks. 

R. Terry Carter said that she has been watching what the Legislature is doing, easing standards 

for low income or affordable housing. 



 

 

Village of Ludlow – Board of Trustees  April 4, 2023 

Preliminary Meetings Minutes  Page 4 of 7 

 

 
S. Bob Brandt said he is also nervous about the 1/8th acre.  A ranch house would take up the 

entire property and there would be no lawns.   It would not be pleasant. 

T. Terry Carter said the Planning Commission does not want to make changes so that no one 

would want to live here. 

U. Bob Brandt asked about duplexes. 

V. Ryan Silvestri said we can write the standards to define types of construction and say no tiny 

houses in the Village. 

W. Justin Hyjek said the state wants more mixed use spaces.  In the Village, we have places 

where the first floors would be businesses and the upper floors used as living spaces. 

X. Earl Washburn said he is sensitive to clusters and density.  He agrees with Bob Brandt that 

1/8th acre is too small and we would lose the esthetics of the Village.  He said the Planning 

Commission has done well to consider the influx of 2nd home owners. 

Y. Terry Carter said we have a great, vibrant downtown and want it to stay that way. 

Z. Ryan Silvestri suggested incentives for mixed up spaces and multi-story buildings. 

AA. Terry Carter added duplexes. 

BB. Justin Hyjek said that much of Ludlow is in the flood plain and changing the use of a 

property is difficult. 

CC. Terry Carter said there are setbacks from the river. 

DD. Ryan Silvestri said that Brookhaven is on stilts.  For new constructions, we can elevate the 

living spaces and have ground level parking.  We could maximize the use of the footprint.  

There is a need for more parking and mixed uses. 

EE. Terry Carter noted that the Ellison building is for sale and it is for sale. 

FF. Ryan Silvestri said we would need additional story height limits to build.  If it is on the 

floodway, it is okay, but if it is in the flood plain, it is not okay.  The flood plain is heavily 

restricted. 

GG. Justin Hyjek said that there is undeveloped land, could it be used for parking. 

HH. Ryan Silvestri said yes, but not paved, only gravel. 

II. Terry Carter said the water has to be able to get through. 

JJ. Jean Strong said we need more handicapped parking spaces. 

KK. Terry Carter said we can’t park on the street in the winter. 

LL. Jean Strong said there is one handicapped space at Brewfest and one at Berkshire and they 

are for customers only.  Their measurements are not right. 

MM. Terry Carter said there are some at Shaw’s. 

NN. Jean Strong said that she asked that the town stencil space at the Senior Center, but the town 

does not have stencils.  The Senior Center will buy the stencils, and the town can put them 

in. 

OO. Terry Carter said there is pressure from the state to eliminate all parking requirements, but 

she doesn’t agree.  If a building is a duplex, it would only need one space, but there would 

be 2 families there. 

PP. Ryan Silvestri said if we had satellite parking, we could have bus stops from bridge to 

bridge.  We could add 4 handicapped parking spaces. 

QQ. Justin Hyjek suggested they table this discussion until next month and then see the final 

version. 

RR. Terry Carter said we need to finalize this this month. 

SS. Bob Brandt said it is fine with the questions the Planning Commission has.  It is better for 

the survey not to be long. 



 

 

Village of Ludlow – Board of Trustees  April 4, 2023 

Preliminary Meetings Minutes  Page 5 of 7 

 

 
TT. MOTION by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt for the Planning 

Commission to move forward with the survey.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 

Sewer Allocation Request  

 

UU. Kimball Bocklet – 33 Pleasant Street - Application to add three (3) bedrooms.  Currently, 

house has 4 bedrooms, but only billed for 3.  Also, looking to build a garage with 

accessory unit above to include two (2) bedrooms. 
i. Allocation fee $546.00/bedroom x 3  $1638.00 

ii. Connection Fee   $2200.00    

VV. MOTION by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to approve the allocation 

and connection as requested. 

 

WW. Alan Couch said that the Lister’s card has this property listed as 5 bedrooms and don’t they 

have to have a permit to have an accessory hookup separate from the main house. 

XX. Bob Brandt suggested that an additional hook up may be needed to the line on Terrace 

Avenue. 

YY. Alan Couch said 1-3 bedrooms with a hookup for accessory unit. 

ZZ. Justin Hyjek asked where the driveway is if the garage is to be located in the back of the 

house. 

AAA. Joe Gaudiana said the foundation is already there and the line goes under the new 

foundation. 

BBB. Justin Hyjek asked if this would be considered stand-alone or accessory. 

CCC. Bob Brandt said he can’t tell. 

DDD. Justin Hyjek said he does not see a driveway on the drawing.  He said with 1/3 acre, can you 

still have a second building without access. 

EEE. Alan Couch said the accessory garage.  He repeated that the Listers’ card has this listed as a 

5-bedroom and it would be adding 2. 

FFF. Bob Brandt said that the paperwork presented said that they have 4 bedrooms, but were only 

being billed for 3 and that they want to add two bedrooms.   

GGG. Justin Hyjek said if it has 5 bedrooms, maybe one was an office. 

HHH. Alan Couch said you should straighten this out with the assessors.  It was non-conforming in 

the past. He asked if we can back-charge them for the 4th bedroom. He said this should be 

settled before the form a more non-conforming situation. 

III. Bob Brandt said that this board is not dealing with planning or zoning, just sewer allocation.  

We have a motion and second on the floor. 

JJJ. Alan Couch said this board can vote no. 

KKK. Bob Brandt said they can also vote yes. 

LLL. Alan Couch said he printed out the assessor’s card and it shows 5 bedrooms. 

MMM. Ryan Silvestri said he is the assessor and there is a good possibility that the bedroom count 

on the card is incorrect.  The inspection may have been done from outside the house.  He 

said that he can check the activity and see if he inspected it.  He said the assessors’ 

information is only as assumed in some cases. 

NNN. MOTION passed unanimously.   

 

 



 

 

Village of Ludlow – Board of Trustees  April 4, 2023 

Preliminary Meetings Minutes  Page 6 of 7 

 

 
 

7. American Legion Request for Memorial Day Parade 

 

A. Bob Brandt said this is an annual request and a good thing for the town. 

B. MOTION by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt to approve the request for 

the Memorial Day parade.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

8. Department Head Reports  

 

A. In his report, Joe Gaudiana advised that it is business as usual at the treatment plant.  He has 

heard from Daniels Construction and M&M Excavating about doing the High School sewer 

line.  He said they can start the work as soon as the bib is awarded. 

 

 

9. Aged Receivables Report: 

 

A. Not addressed at this meeting. 

 

 
10. Approve VTRANS Financial Plan, Codes & Standards, Certificate of Compliance 

 

A. Not addresses at this meeting 

 

 

11. Other Business 

 

A. There was none. 

 

 

12. Municipal Manager Updates 

 

A. Brendan McNamara said that he is excited to be working with the board and town.  He said 

he will have more updates at the next meeting. 

 

 
13. Set Date for Next Meeting 

 

A. Next regular meeting will be on May 2, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. 

 
 

14. Sign Warrant Orders 

 

A. Warrant orders have been signed. 

 

 
15. Possible Executive Session/Personnel/Contracts/Legal Issues 



 

 

Village of Ludlow – Board of Trustees  April 4, 2023 

Preliminary Meetings Minutes  Page 7 of 7 

 

 
 

A. Bob Brandt said that an Executive Session is not needed. 

 

16. Adjourn 

 

A. MOTION to adjourn by Earl Washburn and seconded by Bob Brandt.  Motion 

passed unanimously. 

B. Meeting adjourned at 6:50 p.m.   

   

           

Respectfully submitted, 
 

Lisha Klaiber 

 

 

             

             

Bob Brandt, Chairman of Trustees   Earl Washburn, Vice Chair 

 

 

        

Justin Hyjek 

 

 


